### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### HIROSHI HORIIKE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

COLDWELL BANKER RESIDENTIAL BROKERAGE COMPANY, a California Corporation, and CHRIS CORTAZZO, an individual,

Defendants and Respondents.

B246606

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. SC110477)

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT - 7 2014

Frank A. MicGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### KLINEDINST PC

Neil Gunny, Esq., Bar No. 76639 777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2800 Los Angeles, California 90017 Telephone: (213) 406-1100 Facsimile: (213) 406-1101 ngunny@klinedinstlaw.com

#### GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

Kent L. Richland, Esq., Bar No. 51413

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

When the buyer and the seller in a residential real estate transaction are each independently represented by a different salesperson from the same brokerage firm, does Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b), make each salesperson (without their consent) the fiduciary of both the buyer and the seller, with the duties to provide undivided loyalty, confidentiality and counseling to both their own client and the opposing side?

#### INTRODUCTION<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeal held in this case, as a matter of first impression, that when the buyer and the seller in a California residential real estate transaction are each independently represented by a different salesperson from the same brokerage, each salesperson becomes a "dual agent" and the fiduciary to *both* the buyer and the seller under Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b) ("section 2079.13(b)").<sup>2</sup> Salespersons and their clients have long enjoyed the freedom to *choose* dual agency. Dual agency at the

Real estate sales involve multiple agency relationships: (1) a salesperson, commonly known as a real estate agent or realtor, has an agency relationship with the client, i.e., the buyer or seller; (2) the broker with whom the salesperson is licensed or affiliated has an agency relationship with the salesperson's client; and (3) the salesperson has an agency relationship with the broker. As a result, references to "agent" and "principal" in real estate statutes and cases can be confusing. For clarity, we describe the participants in real estate sales as (1) salesperson, (2) broker, and (3) client (or buyer or seller), and generally avoid "real estate agent," "listing agent," or "selling agent."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All further statutory references are to the Civil Code unless otherwise indicated.

salesperson level has proven workable where the interests of the buyer and seller are well-aligned. But the Court of Appeal's first-impression construction of section 2079.13(b) imposes dual agency, and its consequent dual fiduciary duties, by operation of law and without regard to the intentions or interests of the parties or their salespersons.

The Court of Appeal relied entirely on a single sentence buried in section 2079.13(b), a subsection that provides definitions for other statutes: "When an associate licensee owes a duty to any principal, or to any buyer or seller who is not a principal, in a real property transaction, that duty is equivalent to the duty owed to that party by the broker for whom the associate licensee functions." The Court of Appeal construed that sentence as imputing a broker's duties to buyers and sellers *downward* to salespersons, meaning that if salespersons from the same brokerage end up on opposite sides of a transaction, each salesperson owes fiduciary duties to both sides because the brokerage does.

But the Court of Appeal reached that decision in a vacuum. It never considered any alternative construction, the surrounding statutory language, standard agency-law principles, the legislative history, or the perverse public-policy implications of its adopted construction. That was a potentially catastrophic error.

As we shall demonstrate, the only logical and practical construction of that sentence—backed by the overall statutory context and language, settled agency law, the legislative history, *and* public policy—is that the Legislature merely intended to confirm that a principal-agent relationship

exists between brokers and their associate licensees and therefore an associate licensee's duties are imputed to the broker. Settled principles of statutory construction compel that conclusion.

Section 2079.13(b)'s plain language focuses on the relationship that an associate licensee has with a particular buyer or seller and then imputes "that duty" to the broker; the language does not focus on the broker's relationship and then impute those duties to the associate licensee. So, as the trial court correctly found, a salesperson's fiduciary duties to his/her client and *non*-fiduciary duties of honesty and fair dealing to a *non*-client are imputed to the broker. Viewed in the light of *all* of section 2079.13(b)'s language and the entire statutory scheme, the provision simply codifies settled law that associate licensees are *agents* of brokers—that is, the duties owed by each agent are imputed to the brokerage so the brokerage is responsible for any breach.

The Court of Appeal's construction, in contrast, assumes that the Legislature intended to depart radically from settled agency law by:

(1) effectively imposing a heretofore unknown doctrine of respondeat inferior that imputes the broker's duties as principal downward to its agent-salespersons; and (2) forcing a salesperson and a non-principal buyer/seller into an agency relationship, even though settled agency law requires consent. Had the Legislature intended such a sea change in the law, it can be expected to have expressed that intent clearly and unambiguously. Its failure to do so, and its usage of language that is completely consistent with settled agency law, compels the adoption of Petitioners' construction. And,

legislative history confirms that the Legislature enacted the statutory scheme to require informational disclosures about *existing* agency law, not to announce a revolution in that law.

The Court of Appeal's construction further fails because, if upheld, it would create a public-policy nightmare:

- Buyers and sellers who chose to have the undivided loyalty of an exclusive salesperson would lose that choice midstream whenever the salesperson on the other side happened to be from the same brokerage—a frequent occurrence given the prevalence of large brokerages.
- Salespersons would have a duty to harm their original client by disclosing to the other side sensitive information about the client's motivations or the salesperson's personal beliefs. For example, a seller's salesperson would have to disclose to the buyer that the seller needs to close a sale quickly or that the seller has financial difficulties, and the buyer's salesperson would have to tell the seller that he thinks the seller is getting a bad deal.
- Because fiduciaries owe duties to research and investigate their clients' needs, and to counsel their clients, salespersons would have to ferret out sensitive information from, and provide counsel to, complete strangers—all against *everyone's* will. This case exemplifies the resulting perversity. Here, the Court of Appeal's construction would transform the seller's salesperson into the buyer's fiduciary (and would also make the buyer vicariously liable for the seller's salesperson's negligence to others), even though they met only once, exchanged only a few words, lived in

different countries, did not speak the same language, and the buyer had chosen his own exclusive salesperson.

• Salespersons would be forced into dual agency with buyers and sellers whose interests inherently conflict. Because compliance with fiduciary duties to one client will frequently entail a breach of fiduciary duties to the other, salespersons risk being sued no matter what they do. The Court of Appeal's construction would trigger a huge increase in litigation and a concomitant increase in insurance premiums. It could also cause large firms to avoid intra-firm transactions altogether, thereby excluding buyers and sellers from a huge portion of the market.

This chaotic public-policy disaster is not, and cannot be, what the Legislature intended. The Legislature merely intended to confirm that associate licensees are agents of their affiliate brokers and therefore are subject to settled agency law. This provides parties with abundant protection in intra-firm transactions: Each has the fiduciary protection of a chosen salesperson and non-fiduciary duties of honesty and good faith from the other party's salesperson, with ultimate liability shared by the common brokerage in the event of any breach by either salesperson. The Legislature simply did not intend that an independent salesperson should magically transform midstream into a dual-agent-fiduciary of a non-client—with all the resulting problems created thereby—simply because a salesperson from the same brokerage ends up on the other side.

The Court of Appeal's judgment must be reversed and Petitioners' construction upheld.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Buyer Horiike Retains A Coldwell Salesperson To Locate
A Residential Property To Purchase.

In 2003, plaintiff Hiroshi Horiike retained Chizuko Namba, a salesperson for defendant Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage Company ("Coldwell"), to locate a California home to purchase. (9RT 3332-3333.) Horiike resides in Hong Kong. (6RT 2542.) Horiike speaks Mandarin Chinese and Japanese; he cannot speak English fluently and reads only "very simple" English words. (6RT 2544.) Namba's first language is Japanese and she spoke with Horiike only in Japanese. (9RT 3332.)

Over the next four years, Horiike worked exclusively with Namba as his salesperson, viewing forty to fifty luxury homes with her for potential purchase. (9RT 3332-3333.)

B. The Buyer And His Salesperson Consummate A Sale With
 The Seller And The Seller's Salesperson, Another
 Coldwell Salesperson From A Different Office.

In 2007, salesperson Namba saw a listing for a Malibu residence that was exclusively listed by another Coldwell salesperson, Chris Cortazzo. (9RT 3333.) The owners had retained Cortazzo to sell their property; he listed it on a multiple listing service (MLS). (5RT 2193-2194.)

Namba was affiliated with Coldwell's Beverly Hills office. (9RT 3335.) Cortazzo was affiliated with Coldwell's Malibu West office. (8RT 3159-3160.)

Namba arranged for Cortazzo to show the property to Horiike. (9RT 3333.) In November 2007, accompanied by Tsutomo Yokoi (vice-president of Horiike's company), Namba and Horiike visited the property on one day only; this was the only time Horiike and the seller's salesperson, Cortazzo, ever met or spoke. (5RT 2275; 6RT 2562; 7RT 2823; 9RT 3337.) It was also the first time that the two Coldwell salespersons (Namba and Cortazzo) had ever met. (9RT 3335.)

Cortazzo did not speak Mandarin or Japanese. (6RT 2465.) He spoke only briefly with Horiike during the house tour. (5RT 2271-2272.) During the tour, Cortazzo handed Horiike the MLS listing sheet and a flyer describing the property. (7RT 2753; 9RT 3338.) Their brief conversations that one day, and those two documents, constitute the full extent of Cortazzo's direct contact with Horiike during the entire sales transaction. (5RT 2275.)

After their afternoon visit, Horiike, Yokoi and Namba privately discussed the property out of Cortazzo's presence. (8RT 3114.) They later returned to the home to see the night view. (8RT 3117.) Horiike, Namba and Yokoi drew up a purchase offer, and Horiike and Yokoi flew home to Hong Kong that evening. (6RT 2565-2567; 9RT 3343-3344.)

Escrow opened shortly thereafter and closed within a month. (5RT 2274, 2295-2296.) During escrow, Namba forwarded the ensuing sales-related documents to Horiike in Hong Kong. (9RT 3395.) Horiike had no communication with Cortazzo during escrow. (7RT 2824.)

#### C. The Home Size Is Described In Various Terms.

The City of Malibu uses a measurement called "Total Development Square Footage" (TDSF) to calculate and restrict the size of new home construction. (8RT 3059.)<sup>3</sup> As of 1998, Malibu's TDSF measurement included portions of a home's primary residential structure, along with guesthouse and garage. (8RT 3041.) But in 1998, the TDSF measurement did *not* include a hillside home's "daylighted" basement—i.e., habitable space partially built into a surrounding hillside. (8RT 3043, 3085.)

The 1998 building permit for the subject Malibu home represented that its TDSF was 11,050 square feet, including the attached guesthouse and garage. (8RT 3055; 1AA 150.)<sup>4</sup> But that measurement—in accordance with the then-current TDSF ordinance—did not include the home's entire "daylighted" basement level floor, although habitable. (5RT 2135; 8RT 3043, 3085; 1AA 150.) The permit did not reference any "living area" calculation. (*Ibid.*)

By 2007, Malibu had expanded the TDSF ordinance to include daylighted basement space and attached covered terraces. (8RT 3043, 3083, 3092.) By February 2007, Cortazzo had been provided a letter from the home's architect/builder stating that the home's size under the expanded

At all relevant times, Malibu has restricted TDSF for new home construction to 11,172 square feet. (8RT 3059.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The 11,050 figure was the total square footage of the guesthouse (746), garage (1080), and "SFR" (9224). (1AA 150.) "SFR" referenced only the main floor and second floor of the three-story home. (8RT 3053-3054, 3080, 3086.)

ordinance was now approximately 15,000 square feet. (1AA 174; 5RT 2231, 2234.)

The flyer that Cortazzo subsequently provided buyer Horiike in 2007 described the home as offering "approximately 15,000 sq. ft. of living areas." (1AA 166.) The buyer's expert acknowledged that there are numerous definitions for the term "living areas." (10RT 3689.) The experts agreed that the guesthouse and home's daylighted basement are "living areas" under any definition. (8RT 3042, 3083; 10RT 3656, 3702.) The buyer's expert measured the home's "total living area" at 12,349 square feet. (10RT 3655.) Defendants' expert measured its *as-built* "living areas" (*exclusive* of garages and covered terraces) at 14,186 square feet. (11RT 3965.) Adding in all 2007 TDSF space (i.e., garages and covered terraces), the home's as-built size measures 16,359 square feet. (*Ibid.*)

# D. The Permit And Square-Footage Admonitions DeliveredTo The Buyer Go Unread.

Shortly after escrow opened, Cortazzo forwarded the 1998 building permit to Namba. (5RT 2294-2295.) Namba received the permit, read it, and faxed it to Yokoi and Horiike in Hong Kong. (9RT 3348, 3398; 8RT 3156.) Yokoi and Horiike received the faxed permit, and Horiike signed a receipt acknowledgment; however, he never actually read the permit. (2AA 203; 7RT 2743, 2745; 8RT 3132-3133.)<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Horiike expected Yokoi to review the permit during escrow to (continued...)

Cortazzo had, in writing, admonished earlier prospective buyers (the Lees) who inquired about the home's size to hire a specialist to verify the square footage. (5RT 2225-2226, 2239-2240; 1AA 173, 180.) Cortazzo delivered similar admonitions to Horiike. The MLS listing sheet that Cortazzo handed Horiike admonished that "Broker/Agent does not guarantee the accuracy of the square footage" and "Buyer is advised to independently verify the accuracy." (2AA 227; 7RT 2753.)

Horiike later signed an acknowledgment that he had received and understood a written advisory which admonished that "[r]epresentations regarding [square footage] . . . are often . . . based upon inaccurate or incomplete records," that "Brokers have not verified any such representations," and that "Broker recommends that Buyer hire an appraiser or licensed surveyor to investigate these matters." (2AA 225, 217 ¶2.)

Despite signing the acknowledgment, Horiike never read the advisory or had it translated. (6RT 2571).

Horiike also acknowledged in writing a third advisory that "Broker . . . [s]hall not be responsible for verifying square footage . . . contained in . . . advertisements, flyers or other promotional material." (2AA 213; 6RT 2476-2477.) Horiike never read this advisory either. (7RT 2814.) In fact, Horiike never read *any* documents he received during the escrow period. (6RT 2563; 7RT 2745.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> (...continued) ensure its content was consistent with what they had been told. (7RT 2746).

# E. The Seller's Salesperson And The Buyer Never Agree To Any Agency Relationship Between Them.

Cortazzo represented the seller only. (6RT 2471-2472; 9RT 3388-3389.) He was never asked and never agreed to represent buyer Horiike. (6RT 2471-2472; 7RT 2823; 9RT 3388-3389.) Horiike admitted that he never asked Cortazzo to act as his real estate agent, and that he "had nothing to do with" Cortazzo and "only met him once." (7RT 2823.)

No sales or other document listed Cortazzo as an agent for Horiike or as a "dual agent." (See, e.g., 1AA 17-23 [purchase offers/agreements].)

Horiike and the seller both signed a "Confirmation Real Estate Agency Relationships" form that identified *Coldwell* as the agent of both the buyer and seller; Cortazzo signed as the associate licensee for the seller's agent (the "listing agent") and Namba signed as the associate licensee for the buyer's agent (the "selling agent"). (1AA 154.) Horiike also signed a "Disclosure And Consent For Representation Of More Than One Buyer Or Seller" form that identified the potential dual agent as Coldwell (1AA 159), and a statutorily-required "Disclosure Regarding Real Estate Agency Relationships" form that also identified Coldwell as the agent. (1AA 156; Civ. Code, § 2079.16.)

Each side's broker expert testified at trial that, under California real estate standards, Cortazzo's lone client was the seller (9RT 3411, 3451; 10RT 3802) and only Namba was Horiike's "fiduciary" and thus owed duties to Horiike not owed by Cortazzo (9RT 3462; 10RT 3802).

Defendants' expert further explained that industry ethical standards

prohibited Cortazzo from communicating directly with Horiike and required him to communicate through Namba. (10RT 3803.) Indeed, during escrow, Cortazzo transmitted all documents for Horiike's review through Namba. (5RT 2275).

F. The Buyer Sues Coldwell And The Seller's Salesperson
(But Not His Own Salesperson), Claiming The Seller's
Salesperson Falsely Represented The Home's Square
Footage.

Several years after purchasing the property, Horiike filed a complaint against Coldwell and Cortazzo for intentional and negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, unfair business practices in violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200, and false advertising in violation of Business and Professions Code section 17500.

(1AA 1-13.) During trial, he added a claim for intentional concealment.

(12RT 4243-4244, 4279-4280.)

Horiike's claims each rested on the same allegations: Cortazzo misrepresented/concealed the home's actual square footage, causing Horiike to pay a higher price than warranted. (1AA 1-12.) Horiike alleged no wrongdoing by his own salesperson, Namba. (*Ibid.*)

# G. The Trial Court Holds That The Seller's SalespersonOwed No Fiduciary Duty To The Buyer.

The trial court concluded that Cortazzo owed no fiduciary duty to the buyer. (12RT 4202.) It therefore granted nonsuit to Cortazzo on the fiduciary-duty claim. (*Ibid.*)

At trial, buyer Horiike stipulated that he was not seeking recovery against Coldwell based on any malfeasance of his own salesperson, Namba (2RT 1248-1249.) Without objection, the jury was so instructed. (12RT 4284.) The court therefore also instructed that Coldwell could be liable for breach of fiduciary duty only if the jury found that some Coldwell representative other than Cortazzo and Namba breached a fiduciary duty to Horiike. (*Ibid.*)

H. The Jury Finds For The Defendants On All Submitted Claims, Concluding There Was Neither Intentional Nor Negligent Misrepresentation; The Court Enters A Defense Judgment.

By special verdict, the jury ruled in favor of Coldwell and Cortazzo on the claims for intentional and negligent misrepresentation, intentional concealment, and breach of fiduciary duty (concerning Coldwell only). (2AA 233-238.)

Under the intentional misrepresentation count, the jury found that Cortazzo had not made a false representation of material fact. (2AA 233.)

Under the negligent misrepresentation count, it found that Cortazzo had

made a misrepresentation of material fact but that he "honestly believed," and "had reasonable grounds for believing," the representation was true when he made it. (2AA 236.) The jury ruled against Horiike on the concealment count, finding that Cortazzo did not "intentionally fail to disclose an important or material fact that Hiroshi Horiike did not know and could not reasonably have discovered." (2AA 235.) The jury found that Coldwell did not breach its fiduciary duty to Horiike. (2AA 237-238.)

The trial court found that the inconsistent verdict findings on falsity were inconsequential because other unambiguous findings defeated the misrepresentation claims. (2AA 270-271, citing *Contreras v. Goldrich* (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 1431, 1434.) The parties had stipulated that the trial court could rule on the two Business and Professions Code claims after the jury trial. (2AA 233.) The court concluded that "[t]he jury's findings of no actionable misrepresentation or concealment" mandated judgment for the defendants on those claims. (2AA 239:10-12.) It therefore entered judgment in favor of Coldwell and Cortazzo. (2AA 232-239.)

I. In A First-Impression Decision, The Court Of Appeal Reverses The Judgment, Holding Civil Code Section 2079.13, Subdivision (b), Makes The Seller's Salesperson A Fiduciary Of The Buyer, Owing The Non-Client Buyer The Highest Duties Of Trust And Confidence.

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