#### S218734

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

#### HIROSHI HORIIKE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

υ.

### COLDWELL BANKER RESIDENTIAL BROKERAGE COMPANY et al..

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE CASE NO. B246606

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

MITCHELL C. TILNER (BAR NO. 93023)
\*FREDERIC D. COHEN (BAR NO. 56755)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
mtilner@horvitzlevy.com
fcohen@horvitzlevy.com

### THE LAW OFFICES OF DAVID W. MACEY, P.A.

DAVID W. MACEY (PRO HAC VICE)
LINDSAY M. ALTER (PRO HAC VICE)

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. ON ITS FACE, CIVIL CODE SECTION 2079.13, SUBDIVISION (B) PROVIDES THAT SALESPEOPLE OWE THE SAME DUTIES TO CLIENTS AS THE BROKERS FOR WHOM THEY WORK.

Coldwell Banker relies largely on policy arguments to support its position that, despite its plain language, section 2079.13, subdivision (b), should not be construed to equate a salesperson's duty to clients with the duty owed by brokers. Coldwell Banker characterizes the Court of Appeal's opinion as a "revolution in [the] law" (OBOM 4) and a "public-policy nightmare" (*ibid.*) that threatens to unsettle the real estate profession. As we explain below, Coldwell Banker's hyperbole is unjustified and its arguments are misguided. More importantly, though, they distract from the main issue in this case, which is one of statutory interpretation.

This Court has explained its task when asked to interpret a statute:

Our primary task in interpreting a statute is to determine the Legislature's intent, giving effect to the law's purpose. [Citation.] We consider first the words of a statute, as the most reliable indicator of legislative intent. [Citation.] "'"Words must be construed in context, and statutes must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible."'"

(Tuolumne Jobs & Small Business Alliance v. Superior Court (2014) 59 Cal.4th 1029, 1037.) Importantly, "[i]f the language of the statute

is not ambiguous, the plain meaning controls and resort to extrinsic sources to determine the Legislature's intent is unnecessary." (Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High School Dist. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 919.)

The words of section 2079.13, subdivision (b), are not ambiguous. The statute states:

When an associate licensee owes a duty to any principal, or to any buyer or seller who is not a principal, in a real property transaction, that duty is equivalent to the duty owed to that party by the broker for whom the associate licensee functions.

(Civ. Code, § 2079.13, subd (b).) "Associate licensee" refers to "a person who is licensed as a real estate broker or salesperson . . . and who is either licensed under a broker or has entered into a written contract with a broker to act as the broker's agent . . . ." (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.)

On its face, this language equates the duties that a salesperson owes to clients with the duties owed by the broker for whom the salesperson works. Where, as here, the broker owes a fiduciary duty to both the buyer and seller, salespeople employed by the broker owe that same duty.

Digging deeper into the code leads to the same conclusion. Salespeople cannot operate on their own or enter into contracts with buyers and sellers; they can only operate as agents for brokers and accept money in the broker's name. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 10132 ["A real estate salesman... is a natural person who, for a compensation or in expectation of a compensation, is employed by a licensed real estate broker"]; Venturi & Co. LLC v. Pacific Malibu

Development Corp. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1417, 1423 ["A sales license does not permit its holder to represent another unless the salesperson acts under a broker's authority"]; Schaffter v. Creative Capital Leasing Group, LLC (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 745, 757 [" 'the salesman . . . is strictly the agent of the broker. He cannot contract in his own name [citations], nor accept compensation from any person other than the broker under whom he is licensed' "]; 2 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Estate (3d ed. 2014) §§ 3:4, p. 3-15 [same], 4:31, p. 4-84 ["As a matter of law, a salesperson may only perform licensed activities as an employee under the supervision of a licensed broker"]; see Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2725 ["A broker shall exercise reasonable supervision over the activities of his or her salespersons"].)

Section 2079.13, subdivision (b), recognizes the dominant role played by brokers when it states "[t]he agent in the real property transaction [i.e., the broker] bears responsibility for his or her associate licensees [i.e., salespeople] who perform as agents of the agent."

Section 2079.16 defines the duty that "agents" owe buyers and sellers, and as Coldwell Banker recognizes, the term "agents" refers to brokers, not salespeople. (Civ. Code, § 2079.13, subd. (a) ["'Agent'... includes a person who is licensed as a real estate broker... and under whose license a listing is executed"]; OBOM 32 [section 2079.13 uses the term "agent" to "mean[] the broker" (original emphasis)]; OBOM 33 [same]; see Civ. Code, § 2079.16 [defining the duties "agents" owe to buyers and sellers of real estate].)

Because the broker's contract defines what duties are owed to buyers and sellers, it makes sense that the duties of the salespeople who work as *agents* for the broker would be defined by the same contract. That is precisely what section 2079.13, subdivision (b), does when it states that the duty of the associate licensee or salesperson "is equivalent to the duty owed . . . by the broker for whom the associate licensee functions."

logical interpretation of the statute—that salesperson's duty is the same as the broker's duty—is endorsed by the two leading California treatises on real estate law. (2 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Estate, supra, § 3:34, p. 3-149 ["A salesperson employed by a real estate broker, whether considered as an employee or an independent contractor by their agreement, owes the same fiduciary duties to the agent's principal that are owed by the agent"]; Greenwald & Bank, Cal. Practice Guide: Real Property Transactions (The Rutter Group 2014) ¶ 2:139, p. 2-32.12 ["A 'dual agency' (or 'dual representation') arises where the same salesperson (or same brokerage firm, through different salespersons) represents both buyer and seller. In such cases, the broker (and any salesperson acting on the broker's behalf) is a fiduciary for both buyer and seller." (first emphasis added)]; see also Hayes, The Practice of Dual Agency in California: Civil Code Sections 2373-2382 (1986) 21 U.S.F. L.Rev. 81, 939 (hereafter Hayes) ["[I]f seller A lists Blackacre with licensee B, who is associated with XYZ Realty, and buyer C is ultimately procured by licensee D, who is also associated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In 1995, sections 2373-2382 were renumbered as sections 2079.13-2079.23. (Stats. 1995, ch. 428 (SB 467) § 2.)

with XYZ Realty, the law will not distinguish between B and D. They are both mere representatives of the one agent, XYZ Realty, who is the fiduciary of the seller by virtue of the listing contract."].)

To support its position that the statute does not mean what it says, Coldwell Banker relies on the mistaken assumption that "an agent's duties are imputed upward to the principal . . . ." (OBOM 24, original formatting omitted.) Starting with that assumption, it argues that section 2079.13, subdivision (b), should be read to focus on the *salesperson's* duty to buyers and sellers and to impute those duties back to the broker for whom the salesperson works. (OBOM 28-29.)

Coldwell Banker's interpretation of the statute departs not only from the statute's plain language, it turns the relationship between brokers and salespeople on its head. It is the broker, not the salesperson, who enters into a contractual relationship with the buyer or seller, and it is the broker's contract that defines the duty owed to the client. As an agent working for the broker, the salesperson assumes whatever duties his or her employer owes, not the other way around. Indeed, absent the broker's contract, the salesperson cannot independently enter into a contract to represent a buyer or seller of real estate. The cases that Coldwell Banker relies on to show that salespeople independently owed duties to buyers and sellers analyze the duty that brokers owed to buyers and sellers, not any independent duty owed by salespeople. In each case,

the salesperson merely assisted the broker to fulfill the broker's duty to the client.<sup>10</sup>

This reading of the statute lines up not only with the statutes that govern the relationship between real estate brokers and salespeople specifically (see *ante*, pp. 22-23), it also lines up with the rules that govern principal-agency relationships generally. When an agency is created, the principal assigns duties to the agent, and the agent "represents the principal for all purposes within the scope of the agent's actual or ostensible authority." (3 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (10th ed. 2005) Agency and Employment, § 130, p. 175.) This basic understanding of how principal-agency relationships work is reflected in section 2079.13, subdivision (b).

Coldwell Banker is correct that "[t]here is no doctrine of respondent inferior" (OBOM 25), because a principal's liabilities are not imposed on his or her agents. However, Horiike has never argued that Cortazzo is vicariously liable for the misconduct of Coldwell Banker. Quite the opposite, Horiike seeks to hold Coldwell Banker liable for the misconduct of Cortazzo. That claim involves a straightforward application of respondent superior theory. (3 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law, supra, Agency and Employment, § 165, p. 208 [under the doctrine of respondent superior, the principal is liable for the torts of the agent or employee, committed while acting in the scope of employment].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See OBOM 21-22, 27-28, citing Holmes v. Summer (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1510; Michel v. Palos Verdes Network Group, Inc. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 756; Assilzadeh v. California Federal Bank (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 399 (Assilzadeh).

Finally, there is no merit to Coldwell Banker's position that section 2079.13, subdivision (b), only creates rules for dual agencies that arise when a single salesperson represents the buyer and the seller, and does not address cases where salespersons representing the buyer and the seller work for the same broker. (OBOM 34.) Coldwell Banker cites section 2079.13, subdivision (d), which uses the singular word "licensee" in defining "dual agent" as "an agent acting, either directly or through an associate licensee, as agent for both the seller and the buyer in a real property transaction."

This argument fails because it relies on the wrong provision of the statute. Section 2079.16—the provision that defines the obligations of an "agent representing both seller and buyer" (capitalization and boldface omitted) for purposes of the required disclosure form—uses the plural word "licensees." The statute specifically contemplates cases where the licensees who represent the buyer and seller work for the same broker:

A real estate agent, either acting directly or through one or more associate licensees, can legally be the agent of both the Seller and the Buyer in a transaction, but only with the knowledge and consent of both the Seller and the Buyer. [¶] In a dual agency situation, the agent has the following affirmative obligations . . . .

(Civ. Code, § 2079.16.) This wording appears in the disclosure form Horiike signed. (1 AA 156 [exh. 344-2].)

The statute and disclosure form both contemplate the situation here: a dual agency arising where the buyer's salesperson and the seller's salesperson work for the same broker. In that circumstance, section 2079.13, subdivision (b), provides that each

salesperson's duty "is equivalent to the duty" the broker owes to the buyer and seller. In the context of a dual agency, this plainly means that where the broker owes a fiduciary duty to both parties, so do its salespeople.

In short, the plain language of the statute, well-established agency law, and prominent treatises support the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute.

# II. THE LEGISLATURE HAS IMPLICITLY ENDORSED THE COURT OF APPEAL'S INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 2079.13.

"' "There is a strong presumption that when the Legislature reenacts a statute which has been judicially construed it adopts the construction placed on the statute by the courts.' "' (*People v. Favor* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 868, 879.)

On August 15, 2014, section 2079.13 was amended to extend the disclosure requirements of the statute to commercial property. (Stats. 2014, ch. 200 (SB 1171).) In all other respects, the statute was left unchanged. While SB 1171 was introduced two months before the Court of Appeal issued its April 2014 published opinion in this case, the bill was amended twice in June 2014, adopted by the Assembly in July 2014, and adopted by the Senate in August 2014. (California Senate Bill No. 1171 (Prior Session Legislation), LegiScan: Bringing People to the Process <a href="http://legiscan.com/CA/bill/SB1171/2013">http://legiscan.com/CA/bill/SB1171/2013</a> [as of Dec. 24, 2014].)

The Legislature's reenactment of section 2079.13, subdivision (b), without change after the Court of Appeal issued its opinion gives rise to a presumption that the court construed the statute consistent with the Legislature's intent.

## III. PUBLIC POLICY SUPPORTS THE PLAIN MEANING INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 2079.13.

The plain meaning interpretation of section 2079.13 is consistent with the trend in the law toward providing greater protections for buyers of residential real estate. Until recently, buyers had few protections. As one article explains:

Historically, real estate agents licensed by the state represented the seller because the seller legally contracted with the Broker to list the seller's home and to seek the highest possible price from a prospective buyer. Moreover, because the buyer typically did not contract with a broker to buy a home but merely asked the broker to show him the broker's listings, the buyer was not represented at all in the transaction.<sup>11</sup>

Even when buyers worked with a salesperson, the salesperson was considered a "sub-agent" of the seller's agent, who owed fiduciary duties exclusively to the seller, not the buyer. (Civ. Code, § 2351 ["A sub-agent, lawfully appointed, represents the principal in like manner with the original agent"]; Steve Schmidt & Co. v. Berry

Comment, The "Brokerage Relations" Addition to the Illinois Real Estate License Act: The Case of the Legalized Conflict of Interest (1998) 22 S. Ill. U. L.J. 725, 727 (hereafter Comment).

(1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 1299, 1312 ["Since the principal expressly authorized the use of sub-agents, the cooperating broker becomes the agent of the seller and the seller is the principal. ([Civ. Code,] § 2351.) Thus, there is a principal-agent relationship between the seller and the cooperating broker"].)

In the 1970's, the National Association of Realtors institutionalized the use of sub-agents through Multiple Listing Services, which guaranteed that fiduciary duties would be owed only to sellers:

The National Association[] of Realtors required brokers to offer subagency to all member brokers when they placed a listed property in a multiple listing service....
[E]very licensed salesperson in the broker's company and every member of the multiple listing service became a subagent of the seller. Every broker in that chain owed the fiduciary duties of loyalty, disclosure and confidentiality to the seller.<sup>12</sup>

(See *Skopp v. Weaver* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 432, 439, fn. 8 ["Under the form of multiple listing agreement[s] employed in many areas, a broker on the multiple listing is by virtue of the agreement an agent of the seller"].)

Note, The Illinois Real Estate "Designated Agency Amendment": A Minefield for Brokers (1994) 27 J. Marshall L.Rev. 953, 962 (hereafter Minefield for Brokers); see Derish v. San Mateo-Burlingame Bd. of Realtors (1982) 136 Cal.App.3d 534, 539 ["the users of a MLS are not truly competitors. The ultimate purpose of the information exchange is the formation of a subagency relationship between the listing broker and the cooperating broker"].

In 1983, 66 percent of the homes sold in Los Angeles involved cooperating brokers who owed fiduciary duties only to the seller. (Note, Sub-Agency in Residential Real Estate Brokerage: A Proposal to End the Struggle with Reality (1988) 61 So.Cal. L.Rev. 399, 401, fn. 1.)

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